THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate No.: 2017-000281

The State of South Carolina

Respondent

Vs.

Jawan Rayel White

Appellant,

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thurmond Brooker, Esq.
P. O. Box 1450
Florence, SC 29503-1450
(843) 679-0056 – telephone
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

MAR 23 2018

SC Court of Appeals

TABLE OF CONTENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND CONTROLLED BY AN ERROR OF LAW ON THE GROUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CHARGED THE JURY THAT APPELLANT'S GUILT COULD BE FOUND ON EITHER THE LEGAL THEORY OF CONSPIRACY TO PURCHASE HEROIN OR ATTEMPT TO PURCHASE HEROIN.

2. THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF APPELLANTS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS AND ABUSE OF DISCRETION ON THE GROUND THAT APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO CONFRONT HIS ACCUSORS UNDER THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

STATE OF THE CASE

On June 14, 2013 a jury returned a verdict of guilty against Appellant in his absence on a single count indictment for trafficking in heroin, more than twenty-eight grams. (R. p. 174, lines 10-14). The sentence was sealed by the trial court. (R. p. 178, lines 20-22). On July 18, 2014 the trial court unsealed and published the sentence in Appellant's presence. (R. p. 183, lines 1-3). Contemporaneously, the trial court granted Appellant's motion for leave to file post-trial motions after Appellant's new counsels had opportunity to obtain the trial transcript and other trail materials. (R. p. 183, lines 4-15).

In April 2016 Appellant served upon the trial court and counsel for Respondent his Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion for New Trial. (R., pp. 10-27). On September 14, 2016 the trial court heard oral arguments on Appellant's motion for new trial. The trial court issued an order deny Appellant's motion for a new trial on or about November 21, 2016. (R. pp. 3-9).

Appellant filed with the trial court a motion seeking reconsideration of the court's denial of his motion for a new trial on December 9, 2016. (R. pp. 28-33). Oral arguments on Appellants motion to reconsider was heard on January 18, 2017. On February 7, 2017 the court issued an order denying Appellant motion for reconsideration.

On February 16, 2017 Appellant filed a notice of appeal with the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2011 the United States Drug Enforcement Agency (hereinafter "DEA") was actively pursuing a reverse drug buy operation against Appellant through the use of one of their confidential informants (hereinafter "Federal CI"), whom was acquainted with

Appellant. For an unknown reason, the DEA decided to abandon their operation against Appellant; however, the DEA contacted the Fifteenth Circuit Drug Enforcement Unit (hereinafter "DEU") to see if they had an interest in resuming the reverse drug buy operation against Appellant, which they did. (R. p. 7, line 9-18). The DEA informed the DEU that Appellant was interested in purchasing a large quantity of heroin, and that the Federal CI had negotiated a deal with Appellant for the purchase of four ounces of heroin for Ten Thousand and 00/100 (\$10,000.00) Dollars. The plan was for the Federal CI to introduce Appellant to a confidential informant produced by the DEU (hereinafter "State CI"), whom would enter the operation as the supplier for the drug buy. (R. p. 110, lines 19-25).

On August 16, 2011 the Federal CI, the State CI, and Appellant meet at Broadway at the Beach, through a meeting arranged by the Federal CI. (R. pp. 81-83). Prior to the meeting, the State CI and Federal CI meet with DEU Agent Randy Miller (hereinafter "Agent Miller") so that the State CI could be fitted with an audio and video recording devise to secretly record the meeting with Appellant. (R. pp. 83-84, 118).

At the meeting between Appellant, Federal CI and the State CI Appellant informed the State CI he didn't have the \$10,000 needed for the drug buy. (R. pp. 109, 120). The State CI and Appellant agreed that Appellant would call the State CI once he had acquired the \$10,000. (R. p. 120). On August 19, 2011 Appellant informed the State CI that he had raised the money, and they agreed to meet the next day in the parking lot of the Coastal Grande Mall to execute the drug buy. (R. pp. 90-91, lines 19-25 and 1-3; pp. 120-121, lines 25 and 1-4; p. 124, lines 6-14).

Before the meeting with Appellant on August 20, 2011, the State CI meet with Agent Miller and was fitted with an audio and video recording device to record the events of the drug buy. (R. p. 92, lines 5-24). The State CI was also provided four ounces of imitation heroin to make the drug buy, which had been prepare by Agent Miller with no illegal substances or properties. (R. p. 93, lines 8-25; p. 121-122, lines 21-23 and 2-17). Immediately after the imitation drug buy was made between the State CI and Appellant, DEU agents converged on the buy location and arrested both Appellant and the State CI. (R. pp. 125-126, lines 22-25 & 1-17). Appellant was charged with trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more in violation of 44-53-370(e) (3) (c) of South Carolina drug laws.

Appellant's case was called to trial on June 13, 2013. Appellant failed to appear for court, and the trial proceeded in Appellant's absence after a hearing and presentation of evidence on Respondent's motion to proceed in absentia. (R. pp. 17-23). At the conclusion of evidence and closing arguments, the trial court charged the jury on one count of trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more, as follows:

Now the Defendant is charges with trafficking in heroin. The State must prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant knowingly sold, manufacture, cultivate, delivered, purchased, brought into this State, provided financial assistance or otherwise aided, abetted, attempted or conspired to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase or bring into this State, and was knowingly in actual or constructed possession, knowingly attempted to become in actual or constructive possession of heroin.

In order to find the Defendant guilty the State must also prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the amount of heroin, or any mixture containing heroin, was twenty-eight grams or more. Under trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more, *the presence of only imitation heroin at the transaction is irrelevant if the State proves, beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant conspired or attempted to purchase more than twenty-eight grams of real heroin.*

(R. p. 170, lines 4-20). The jury was given a general verdict form with the options of guilty or not guilty. (R. p. 172, lines 3-16). The jury returned a verdict of guilty at the conclusion of deliberation. (R. p. 174, lines 10-14).

At the hearing on Appellant's motion for a new trial and in Appellant's memorandum in support of his motion for new trial, Appellant argue that a new trial should be granted because: (1) the jury charge of conspiracy was erroneous, and had the potential to confuse the jury because no conspiracy can exist between a defendant and a state agent; (2) the right of confrontation under the Confrontation Clause was violated where statements from the Federal CI, whom did not testify at trial, was entered into evidence through Agent Miller, the State CI, and an audio and video recording of the meeting between the Federal CI, State CI, and Appellant; and (3) Appellant's trial in his absence was in violation of his right to be present under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (See, R. p. 15).

The trial court denied all of Appellant's arguments for a new trial. (R. p. 6). The trial court reasoned that the jury charge was not erroneous nor had the potential to confuse the jury because the court instructed the jury on the laws of trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more, as it was written by the legislature; the Confrontation Clause argument was not preserved because Appellant make no objection to the entry of statements made by the Federal CI into evidence at trial; and Appellant had waived his right to be present under the Sixth Amendment where he failed to appear for trial after notice. (R. pp. 7-9).

In Appellants motion to reconsider the trial court's denial of his motion for a new trial, Appellant's sole argument was that the rule established in Stromberg v. People of

State of California, 283 U.S. 359, 51 S. Ct. 532 (1931), requires that a general verdict be set aside where the jury was instructed on two or more disjunctive grounds of guilt and at least one of the instructed grounds was unconstitutional or legally impermissible. (R. pp. 29-32). The trial court denied Appellant's argument on his motion to reconsider without explanation.

ARGUMENT

“‘[T]he grant or refusal to grant a new trial is within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.’ (Citation omitted). ‘An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.’” State v. Smith, 642 S.E.2d at 630 (S.C. App. 2007) (Citations omitted). “To warrant reversal, an error must result in prejudice to the appealing party.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16-17, 732 S.E.2d 880 (S.C. 2012) (citations omitted).

I. THE TRIAL COURT’S DENIAL OF APPELLANT’S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WAS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND CONTROLLED BY AN ERROR OF LAW ON THE GROUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CHARGED THE JURY THAT APPELLANT’S GUILT COULD BE FOUND ON EITHER THE LEGAL THEORY OF CONSPIRACY TO PURCHASE HEROIN OR ATTEMPT TO PURCHASE HEROIN.

In State v. McCluney, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals’ ruling that the circuit court error in failing to grant McCluney’s motion for directed verdict at trial, where he was charged with trafficking in cocaine as result of purchasing 400 grams of imitation cocaine from a law enforcement agent posing as a drug supplier during a reverse-buy operation. 361 S.C. 607, 608, 606 S.E.2d 485 (S.C. 2004). In its opinion the McCluney Court reasoned that:

Trafficking is not limited to the substantive offenses of purchasing, possessing, and selling large amounts of controlled substances. *Conspiring and attempting to do those acts also constitute trafficking. The part of the trafficking statute pertinent to this case is as follows: "Any person who knowingly... attempts[] or conspires to ... purchase ... ten grams or more of cocaine ... is guilty of a felony which is known as trafficking in cocaine.*

The Court of Appeals errantly focused on the facts that only imitation cocaine was present at the transaction and that purchasing imitation cocaine does not constitute trafficking. In doing so, the court relied heavily on *Murdock v. State of South Carolina*, 311 S.C. 16, 426 S.E.2d 740 (1992), which is irrelevant to Respondent's case.

The court should have focused on the State's evidence that Respondent conspired and attempted to purchase real cocaine. Section 44-53-370(e) (2) plainly states that conspiring and attempting to purchase ten grams or more of real cocaine constitute trafficking. The presence of only imitation cocaine [361 S.C. 610] at the transaction is irrelevant to Respondent's intent and thus irrelevant to the State's conspiracy and attempt arguments.

State v. McCluney, 361 S.C. at 609-610.

In the case at hand, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Under trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more, the presence of only imitation heroin at the transaction is irrelevant if the State proves, beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant conspired or attempted to purchase more than twenty-eight grams or real heroin.

(Trial Tr., p. 163). The trial court correctly recognized that the only section of the trafficking in heroin statute applicable to Appellant's conduct was the language that makes it illegal to conspire or attempt to purchase heroin because Appellant's case involved the purchase of imitation drugs, as the defendant in State v. McCluney.

However, the trial court's charge on conspiracy and attempt was confusing and misleading to the jury because the jury was erroneously instructed that Appellant's guilt could be based upon the theory that Appellant either "conspiracy or attempt" to purchase heroin. (Id.). No evidence was presented at trial to support a charge of conspiracy.

“A conspiracy is defined as the "combination between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful object or lawful object by unlawful means." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-410 (2003), See also, State v. Fleming, 243 S.C. 265, 133 S.E.2d 800 (S.C. 1963). However, a conspiracy can never be achieved between a defendant and an informant. “This would contradict the rule that one cannot enter into a conspiracy with another who only feigns acquiescence in a crime; such as an informer or undercover agent.” State v. Holmes, 277 S.C. 232, 233, 285 S.E.2d 353 (S.C. 1981) (citation omitted); See also, State v. Crocker, 621 S.E.2d 890, 366 S.C. 394 (SC, 2005); State v. Adams, 462 S.E.2d 308, 319 S.C. 509 (S.C. App., 1995); United states v. Chase, 372 F.2d 453 (4th Cir. 1967). However ... “participation of an undercover agent ‘[i]n conjunction with more than one person to violate a law...will not preclude a conviction of the others for a conspiracy among themselves.” State v. Holmes, 243 S.C. at 234; Citing, State v. Wilkins, 34 N.C. App. 392, 238 S.E.2d 659, 665 (1977).

In the case at hand, the sole parties to the reverse drug buy were Appellant and the Federal CI and the State CI. (Trial Tr. p. 98, 11, 113). Appellant was the sole non-law enforcement agent involve in the drug buy. As a result, his conduct coupled with that of the State CI or the Federal CI could not have formed a conspiracy. Therefore, it was error when the jury was instructed that Appellant’s guilt could be found on the theory of conspiracy to purchase or attempt to purchase heroin.

As a result, there are only three possible scenarios that could explain the jury’s general verdict of guilt: (1) all twelve jurors could have individually concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant “conspired” to purchase twenty-eight grams or more of heroin with no reliance on the attempt language in the jury instructions; (2) all twelve

jurors could have individually concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant “attempted” to purchase twenty-eight grams or more of heroin, with no reliance on the conspiracy language in the jury instructions; or (3) all twelve jurors could have individually conclude beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant was guilty, with some having been persuaded by the conspiracy language of the jury instructions and some having been persuaded by the attempt language in the jury instructions. If scenarios one or three occurred, the jury verdict was based upon an erroneous conclusion of law. Therefore, there is at least a two-thirds (2/3) or sixty-six percent (66%) chance that the verdict was based upon an error of law.

“An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion. Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” Cole v. Raut, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33, 378 S.C. 398 (S.C., 2008). “A jury charge consisting of irrelevant and inapplicable principles may confuse the jury and constitutes reversible error where the jurors [sic] confusion affects the outcome of the trial.” (Id.). In Wertz v. State our Supreme Court explained it best:

A verdict should be certain and import a definite meaning free from ambiguity. (Citations omitted)

* * *

A verdict of a jury should be upheld when it is possible to do so, and carry into effect what was clearly the intention of the jury. When a verdict is so confused, however, that it is not absolutely clear what the jury intended to do, the safest and best course for the court to pursue is to order a new trial. Judges and parties should not be required to guess as to what verdict a jury sought to render. (Emphasis added).

349 S.C. 291, 296, 562 S.E.2d 654 (S.C. 2002). (Citations omitted).

The trial court conceded this issue in its order deny Appellant's motion for a new trial: "Additionally, Defendant argues, correctly, conspiracy between an undercover informant and the Defendant cannot constitute as a conspiracy." However, the trial court ruled that its decision to charge the jury on conspiracy was not erroneous because, "...the Court instructed the jury on the law as it was written by the legislature." (Order, p. 5). To the contrary, simply charging the law as it is written verbatim will not excuse the confusion created in the jury by instructing them that they may base guilty upon a theory of criminal liability that is not support by evidence or law.

In Stromberg v. People of State of California, the defendant was charged with violating a state statue which made it illegal to display a red flag, badge or banner in a public or private place for any of the following purposes: (1) displayed, as a sign, symbol, or emblem of opposition to organized government; or (2) was an invitation or stimulus to anarchistic action; or (3) was in aid to propaganda that is of a seditious character. 283 U.S. 359, 361, 51 S. Ct. 532, (1931). The trial court instructed the jury as follows:

[I]t is only necessary for the prosecution to prove to you beyond a reasonable doubt that said flag was displayed for only one or more of the three purposes alleged in said information, and it is not necessary that the evidence show, beyond a reasonable doubt, that said red flag was displayed for all three purposes charged in said information. Proof, beyond a reasonable doubt of any one or more of the three purposes alleged in said information is sufficient to justify a verdict of guilty under count one of said information.'

Stromberg, 283 U.S. at 364. The defendant's challenge to the constitutionality of the statute was denied by the trial court, and the jury returned a general verdict of guilty.

On appeal, the California appellate court concluded that the first of the three unlawful purposes for displaying a red flag was unconstitutionally overbroad because it could prohibit constitutional protected speech. However, the appellate court concluded

that the remaining two unlawful purposes for displaying a red flag were constitutional. The appellate court affirm the defendant's conviction on the ground there was sufficient evidence presented at trial to support the defendant's conviction on any one of the two remaining constitutionally, prohibited purposes for displaying a red flag. The California Supreme Court declined to hear the case on petition.

On appeal to the United States Supreme Court, the court reversed the judgment affirming the defendant's conviction and remanded the case for further consideration.

The Stromberg Court reasoned that:

The verdict against the appellant was a general one. It did not specify the ground upon which it rested. As there were three purposes set forth in the statute, and the jury was instructed that their verdict might be given with respect to any one of them, independently considered, it is impossible to say under which clause of the statute the conviction was obtained. If any one of these clauses, which the state court has held to be separable, was invalid, it cannot be determined upon this record that the appellant was not convicted under that clause. It may be added that this is far from being a merely academic proposition, as it appears, upon an examination of the original record filed with this Court, that the State's attorney upon the trial emphatically urged upon the jury that they could convict the appellant under the first clause alone, without regard to the other clauses. It follows that instead of its being permissible to hold, with the state court, that the verdict could be sustained if any one of the clauses of the statute were found to be valid, the necessary conclusion from the manner in which the case was sent to the jury is that, if any of the clauses in question is invalid under the Federal Constitution, the conviction cannot be upheld.

* * *

The first clause of the statute being invalid upon its face, the conviction of the appellant, which so far as the record discloses may have rested upon that clause exclusively, must be set aside.

Stromberg, 283 U.S. at 367-370. (Emphasis added) See also, Zant v. Stephen, 462 U.S.

862, 881, 103 S.Ct. 2733 (1982) ("*One rule derived from the Stromberg case requires that a general verdict must be set aside if the jury was instructed that it could rely on any of two or more independent grounds, and one of those grounds is insufficient, because the*

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