ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY

Court of General Sessions  
Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000281

---

RECEIVED  
MAR 22 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAWAN RAYELWHITE,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-2508

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29526  
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**Appellant's argument that the trial court erred by charging the jury the full language of the trafficking statute is not preserved for review because Appellant requested the charge at trial. Even if preserved, the trial court properly charged the jury where the statute lists the various grounds for guilt in plain and ordinary terms.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred by charging the jury the full language of the trafficking statute, claiming the charge was confusing to the jury. However, because Appellant did not raise the issue at trial, the issue has been waived and is not preserved for review. Furthermore, even had Appellant preserved the issue for review, the court did not err because the charge was a correct statement of law that appropriately informed the jury of the elements of the charged offense.

#### **A. The issue is not preserved for review.**

Appellant did not object at trial to the court's decision to charge the statute; rather, defense counsel actually requested that the court charge this portion of the statute, but asked the court not to charge additional language requested by the solicitor regarding the legal effect of imitation heroin being used in the transaction.<sup>2</sup> A defendant's failure to object to a jury charge results in a waiver of his right to complain about the charge on appeal. *State v. Stone*, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E. 2d 286, 287 (1985); SCRCrimP 20(b).<sup>3</sup> Where counsel states at trial that he has no objection to a specific aspect of the jury charge, he may not later argue on appeal that the jury charge was erroneous. *Pinckney v. Pettijohn Builders*, 289 S.C. 405, 407, 346 S.E.2d 533, 534 (Ct.App. 1986).

---

<sup>2</sup> Defense counsel stated: "We would respectfully request the court to charge trafficking in the court's charge without the addition of the solicitor's requested language." R. p. 146.

<sup>3</sup> (b) Objections to Charge. Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires, but out of the hearing of the jury. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.

Appellant first sought to raise the issue through a motion for a new trial, and now seeks to raise it on appeal. However, an Appellant may not preserve through a post-trial motion an issue that was waived at trial. *State v. King*, 334 S.C. 504, 510, 514 S.E.2d 578, 581 (1999). Likewise, a trial court may not grant a new trial on grounds not raised at trial. *State v. Dicapua*, 383 S.C. 394, 399, 680 S.E.2d 292, 294 (2009). Appellant did not give the court an opportunity to exercise its discretion on the issue at trial, and cannot now complain about the court's ruling on appeal. *Stephens v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 400 S.C. 503, 508, 735 S.E.2d 505, 511 (Ct. App. 2012).

**B. Even had Appellant preserved the issue, the court's charge was appropriate.**

S.C. Code § 44-53-370(e) defines the types of conduct that constitute "trafficking in illegal drugs."<sup>4</sup> The statute prohibits the selling, manufacturing, cultivation, delivery, purchasing or bringing into the state of heroin, *or* aiding, abetting, attempting or conspiring to do the same. S.C. Code Ann. 44-53-370(e) (emphasis added). The trial court gave a nearly verbatim definition of the crime charged.<sup>5</sup> Appellant claims the charge was misleading and confusing to

---

<sup>4</sup> S.C. Code § 44-53-370(e)(3)(c) reads in pertinent part:

(e) Any person who knowingly sells, manufactures, cultivates, delivers, purchases, or brings into this State, or who provides financial assistance or otherwise aids, abets, attempts, or conspires to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, or who is knowingly in actual or constructive possession or who knowingly attempts to become in actual or constructive possession of:

(3) four grams or more of any morphine, opium, salt, isomer, or salt of an isomer thereof, including heroin, as described in Section 44-53-190 or 44-53-210, or four grams or more of any mixture containing any of these substances, is guilty of a felony which is known as "trafficking in illegal drugs" and, upon conviction, must be punished as follows if the quantity involved is:

(c) twenty-eight grams or more, a mandatory term of imprisonment of not less than twenty-five years nor more than forty years, no part of which may be suspended nor probation granted, and a fine of two hundred thousand dollars.

<sup>5</sup> The judge charged the jury as follows: "Now the Defendant is charged with trafficking in heroin. The State must prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant knowingly sold, manufactured, cultivated, delivered, purchased, brought into this State, provided financial assistance or otherwise aided, abetted, attempted or conspired to sell, manufacture, cultivate, deliver, purchase, or bring into this State, and was knowingly in actual or constructive possession, knowingly attempted to become in actual or constructive possession of heroin. In order to find the Defendant guilty the State must also prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the amount of the heroin, or any mixture containing heroin, was twenty-eight grams or more. Under trafficking in heroin, twenty-eight grams or more, the presence of only imitation heroin at the transaction is irrelevant if the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant conspired or attempted to purchase more than twenty-eight grams of real heroin."

the jury because the judge charged that Appellant could be convicted if found to have “conspired or attempted” to purchase or possess heroin, and the State did not produce evidence of an actual conspiracy. However, the law in South Carolina and other jurisdictions is clear that when a statute provides for alternative factual grounds for guilt, each being independently sufficient to convict on the charged offense, a court may define the offense to the jury by charging the full language of the statute.

In *City of Columbia v. Moser*, 280 S.C. 134, 311 S.E.2d 920 (1983), Moser was charged with violating a criminal statute prohibiting certain acts of “lewdness, assignation, or prostitution.” *Id.* at 136, 311 S.E.2d at 921. Moser argued the trial court erred by charging the jury the entire statute when there was no evidence of assignation or prostitution, only lewdness. *Id.* at 137, 311 S.E.2d at 921. The Supreme Court held the trial court committed no error, especially where “the language complained of is not so offensive or confusing that reasonable minds would be misled [sic] or prejudiced by the reading thereof.” *Id.*

Where a statute defines the elements of a crime in plain and ordinary terms, it is proper for the court’s charge to track the language of the statute. *Field v. Gregory*, 230 S.C. 39, 47, 94 S.E.2d 15, 20 (1956) (“As a general rule where the law governing a case is expressed in a statute, the court in its charge not only may, but should, use the language of the statute, and may, indeed, be guilty of error if it employs language which constitutes a departure in an essential respect from the statute.”) (quoting 53 Am.Jur., Trial, para. 542, at page 433); *United States v. Wills*, 346 F.3d 476, 494 (4th Cir. 2003) (approving of a jury instruction that “tracks the language of both the interstate stalking statute and of the indictment...”); *Accord State v. Zichko*, 129 Idaho 259, 264, 923 P.2d 966, 971 (1996) (“Ordinarily the language employed by the legislature in defining a crime is deemed to be best suited for that purpose, and error cannot be predicated on its use in

jury instructions.”); *Accord Lloyd v. State*, 152 A.3d 1266, 1271 (Del. 2016) (“An instruction which tracks the statutory language is adequate to inform the jury.”); *People v. Fromuth*, 2 Cal. App. 5th 91, 108, 206 Cal. Rptr. 3d 83, 97 (Ct. App. 2016) (statutory language “is generally an appropriate and desirable basis for an instruction, and is ordinarily sufficient when the defendant fails to request amplification. If the jury would have no difficulty in understanding the statute without guidance, the court need do no more than instruct in statutory language.”).

The trial judge may read the language of the statute verbatim, or he may phrase the statute in his own words. *Keel v. Seaboard Air Line Ry.*, 108 S.C. 390, 95 S.E. 64, 65 (1918) (“He read the statute to the jury, and that was sufficient. He had the right to read the statute to the jury, or, if the language of the statute was embodied in his own language, this was sufficient.”). It is common practice for trial courts to charge the full language of drug trafficking statutes. *See, e.g., State v. Ezell*, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996); *State v. Taylor*, 323 S.C. 162, 165, 473 S.E.2d 817, 818 (1996). The judge’s charge correctly stated the applicable law. A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. *State v. Cherry*, 348 S.C. 281, 287, 559 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2001).

Appellant cites federal case law to support his argument, even though he does not allege a constitutional violation. However, the cases cited by Appellant do not support his argument. In *Stromberg v. People of State of Cal.*, 283 U.S. 359 (1931), Stromberg was convicted under a statute that contained three clauses with alternative bases for liability, one of which was ruled facially unconstitutional. Because the jury verdict did not specify under which clause it convicted, and because the prosecutor argued “emphatically” that conviction could be based on the unconstitutional portion of the statute alone, the possibility that the jury convicted under that portion meant that the verdict could not stand. *Stromberg*, 283 U.S. at 368-69 (“if any of the

clauses in question is invalid under the Federal Constitution, the conviction cannot be upheld.”). In *Yates v. United States*, 354 U.S. 298 (1957), the court held that conviction on one of the grounds for liability was barred by statute of limitations, meaning that the general verdict possibly rested on an error of law, and could not stand. Neither of these circumstances is present in this case. Instead, each part of the trafficking statute is constitutionally and legally valid; the jury was merely asked to decide which part of the statute, if any, was violated.

The United States Supreme Court addressed this question in *Griffin v. United States*, 502 U.S. 46 (1991). In *Griffin*, defendant was charged with conspiracy to defraud the U.S. government. The indictment alleged that Griffin obstructed the IRS *and* DEA in the performance of their respective duties, either of which could constitute guilt of defrauding the government. The evidence presented at trial implicated Griffin only for obstructing the IRS. Griffin asked for a jury charge instructing the jury that it could not find her guilty of the underlying offense based on the allegation that she obstructing the DEA, which the trial court refused. The Court instead instructed the jury that it could find defendant guilty if it found that she engaged in *either* type of conduct alleged in the indictment. The Supreme Court held that the court committed no error. The Court described the history of general verdicts on multi-count indictments before addressing the issue before it— whether a jury charge on an indictment charging various factual grounds for conviction on a *single offense* may present the jury with these alternative bases for liability, even though there is no evidence to support one or more of the factual grounds. The court found that, whether on constitutional or procedural grounds, neither *Yates* nor *Stromberg* applied to the issue presented by Griffin. Calling Griffin’s argument “unprecedented and extreme,” the Court distinguished *Stomberg* and *Yates*, pointing out that Griffin’s insufficient “bases of conviction was neither unconstitutional as in *Stromberg*,

nor even illegal as in *Yates*, but merely unsupported by sufficient evidence.” *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 56 (1991). The Court described approvingly the “regular practice for prosecutors to charge conjunctively, in one count, the various means of committing a statutory offense.” *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 51 (1991). The Court held the issue had already been decided in *Turner v. United States*, 396 U.S. 398 (1970), a drug case where Turner was convicted under a statute prohibiting the purchasing, selling, dispensing, or distributing of narcotics. Because the State had proven distribution, “the status of the case with respect to the other allegations is irrelevant to the validity of Turner's conviction.” *Turner*, 396 U.S. at 420 (1970). *Griffin* and *Turner* establish that no constitutional or procedural violation occurs under federal law when a court submits various factual grounds for relief to a jury even though the evidence submitted does not support conviction on one of those legally valid grounds. *See also Crain v. United States*, 162 U.S. 625, 636 (1896) (approving “a verdict of guilty upon proof that the accused had done any one of the things constituting a substantive crime under the statute.”); *Schad v. Arizona*, 501 U.S. 624, 636 (1991) (“Because statutes frequently enumerate alternatives that clearly are mere means of satisfying a single element of an offense, adoption of the dissent's approach of requiring a specific verdict as to every alternative would produce absurd results.”).

Finally, there was no danger of confusion in the Court's charge because the State's theory of the case was clearly that Appellant had *attempted to purchase* heroin. In the State's opening statement and closing argument, the solicitor argued repeatedly that Appellant had attempted to purchase over an ounce of heroin. R. p. 72, ll. 13-15; p. 74, ll. 15-21; p. 148, ll. 15-21; p. 150, ll. 12-22; p. 151, ll. 15-18; p. 154, ll. 3-5, ll. 18-20; p. 155, l. 23; p. 157, ll. 5-23. The jury was well aware of the State's theory of the case. As the Supreme Court noted in *Griffin*, jurors are well equipped to analyze evidence; left with “the option of relying upon a factually inadequate

theory,” there is no reason to believe jurors cannot weigh the evidence appropriately. *Griffin*, 502 U.S. at 59 (1991).

## II.

**Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in admitting a video recording of his meeting with confidential informants is not preserved for review because Appellant did not object to its admission at trial. Even if preserved, the trial court properly admitted the video recording because the conversation recorded did not constitute testimonial hearsay and therefore did not deny Appellant the right of confrontation.**

Appellant claims the trial court erred by admitting a video of Appellant's initial meeting with Chavez and the second informant, citing the Confrontation Clause of the 6<sup>th</sup> amendment. However, because Appellant did not object to the admission of the video, he has waived the issue and it is not preserved for appellate review. Even had Appellant preserved the issue, the statements on the video do not constitute testimonial hearsay because they were not offered for their truth.

### **A. The issue is not preserved for review.**

Defense counsel did not object to the admission of the videos at trial. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review. *State v. Dicapua*, 383 S.C. 394, 399, 680 S.E.2d 292, 294 (2009) ("By consenting to the admission of the videotape evidence, Dicapua waived any direct challenge to the admission of the evidence."); *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 123 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve for appeal); *State v. Byram*, 326 S.C. 107, 112-13, 485 S.E.2d 360, 362-63 (1997) (noting a constitutional issue must be presented to the trial court to be preserved for review); *State v. McWee*, 322 S.C. 387, 391, 472 S.E.2d 235, 238 (1996) (finding a constitutional argument is not preserved for appeal where appellant failed to argue the constitutional basis for his request at trial).

### **B. Even had Appellant preserved the issue, the statements are not hearsay.**

Although Appellant has not cited any specific statements made by the second informant in the video, the video was not offered to prove the truth of any of the statements contained

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